THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY
In The Circuit Court

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-000987

Saint Luke Baptist Church,

Respondent,

v.

Rayshawn Terry,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John Martin Foster
Post Office Box 106
Rock Hill, S. C. 29731
803 324-8100
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

Jul 27 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DOES INCOMPLETE DISCOVERY PRECLUDE SUMMARY JUDGMENT?
- II. DOES THE EVIDENCE, OR ANY REASONABLE INFERENCES THEREFROM, SHOW THE EXISTENCE OF A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT, OR THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In or about August, 2019, the Appellant RAYSHAWN TERRY was engaged by the Respondent SAINT LUKE BAPTIST CHURCH as its Pastor. Controversy arose between TERRY and the head deacon at SAINT LUKE, Kirk Chappell. Chappell and his allies called a December 26, 2020 church meeting to fire TERRY from his position, having told TERRY he could not be present. The parties dispute the propriety of the meeting and its call under the By-Laws of SAINT LUKE and under TERRY's terms of engagement.

The said meeting declared TERRY fired. By its Complaint filed January 14, 2021, SAINT LUKE sought an injunction against TERRY's involvement with church affairs and finances. After hearing on January 27, 2021, on February 4, 2021 the Circuit Court, per the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. granted the relief sought under a Temporary Injunction.

By his Answer and Counterclaim filed February 18, 2021, TERRY:

denied the legality of his firing and any interference with Church finances, and alleged:

conversion of his personal property by SAINT LUKE;

slander and slander *per se* by SAINT LUKE and its agents;

breach of contract and breach of contract with fraudulent intent; and

violation of the S.C. Wage Payment Act.

On March 15, 2021, SAINT LUKE filed its Reply denying the Counterclaims and interposing defenses. By Motion filed August 12, 2021 and Order filed September 23, 2021, the

Appellant TERRY's initial counsel was relieved; his counsel appeared October 11, 2021.

Discovery began between the parties; no Scheduling Order was sought or entered by the Circuit Court. On February 4, 2022, SAINT LUKE filed its Motion for summary judgment. This was granted by Order of the Circuit Court, per the Honorable Brian Gibbons, filed April 21, 2022.

The Appellant filed his Rule 59 Motion to Reconsider on April 29, 2022. This was denied by Order of the Circuit Court filed June 14, 2022. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews the grant of Summary Judgment under the same standard applied by the Trial Court. *David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006).¹ The Trial Court should grant summary judgment if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), S.C.R.C.P.; *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 217, 578 S.E.2d 329, 334 (2003).

A Court considering Summary Judgment makes neither factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony. *David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 250, 626 S.E.2d 1, 5. (2006). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the Court must construe all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence most strongly against the moving party. *Glasscock, Inc. v. US Fidelity & Guar.*, 348 S.C. 76, 80, 557 S.E.2d 689, ___ (Ct.App. 2001)

However, Summary Judgment is appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner. *David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, *SUPRA*. To survive a motion for Summary Judgment, the non-moving party must offer some evidence that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to each element of the claim. *Steele v. Rogers*, 306 S.C. 546, 552, 413 S.E.2d 329, 333 (Ct.App. 1992).

1. This paragraph is quoted, with stylistic changes only, from *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 381 S.C. 508, 673 S.E.2d 826, 829 (Ct.App. 2009).

ARGUMENT:

I. INCOMPLETE DISCOVERY PRECLUDES SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

This action was filed January 14, 2021. As of the date of hearing on the Defendant's Summary Judgment Motion by the Circuit Court, the Plaintiff had conducted one deposition, and had received the Defendant's responses to its first discovery request. [RECORD ON APPEAL, p.574, p.91, l.7-22; DEPOSITION, p.420, Depo.Page 91,l. 7-18.]

The Defendant TERRY served Requests for Production on the Plaintiff dated October 21, 2021, and received responses consisting mainly of objections. [RECORD ON APPEAL, RESPONSES TO REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION, p.609.] No Scheduling Order was issued in this case setting discovery deadlines.

The Appellant maintains there is every indication that the Respondent is in possession of, or has suppressed, other documents relevant to this case. The Respondent has failed to produce the covenant contract entered into between the parties for the Appellant's service as Pastor of the Plaintiff Church. On knowledge and information, the Respondent has committed, or is chargeable with, spoliation of that evidence. [RECORD ON APPEAL, DEPOSITION, p.492. Depo.Page 91, l.7 – 18; p.373, l.7-22.]

The Respondent has refused production of its relevant financial records on the grounds that the request was "not defined." [RECORD ON APPEAL, RESPONSES TO REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION, p.611, Request 7.] Yet within Memo in Support, it produced what purports to be the Appellant's Wage Report. [RECORD ON APPEAL, Exhibit M, p.346-347.] The Appellant maintains the production request was clear enough to allow production of any evidence as to wages.

In response to the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Appellant filed his Memo and Affidavit of March 28, 2022. [RECORD ON APPEAL, Exhibit M, p.373-396.] That Affidavit listed items missing from the Respondent's answers to discovery. [RECORD ON APPEAL, Exhibit M, p.395, Para.2.]

Discovery in this matter is not complete, as recited herein. There is every indication that the Plaintiff is in possession of other information and documents relevant to this case. By the standard stated above, Summary Judgment cannot be appropriate.

ARGUMENT:

- II. THE EVIDENCE, OR ANY REASONABLE INFERENCE THEREFROM, SHOWS THE EXISTENCE OF GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT, OR THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

This matter arises out of Reverend TERRY's firing by the Respondent Church. The Appellant notes the natural diffidence of our Courts to involve themselves in a religious dispute. It remains true, however, that a contract is a contract wherever it arises, and mere organization as a church does not justify illegal activity.²

ARGUMENT:

- II.A. THE EVIDENCE SHOWS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE APPELLANT'S FIRING, OR THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW?

2. "Almost a hundred years later, Chief Justice Waite, writing for the United States Supreme Court, [*Reynolds v. United States*, 8 Otto 145, 98 U.S. 145, 25 L.Ed. 244 (1878)] used the words of Thomas Jefferson as a basis to knock the hard edge off the guarantee of religious liberty: "Congress was deprived of all legislative power over mere opinion, but was left free to reach actions which were in violation of social duties or subversive of good order." In other words, the First Amendment embraces two concepts: the freedom to believe and the freedom to act. The first is absolute, but the second is not. The law cannot regulate what people believe, but the law can regulate how people act, even if how they act is based on what they believe."
[*South Carolina Dept. of Social Services v. Father and Mother*, 294 S.C. 518, ___, 366 S.E.2d 40, 43 (Ct.App. 1972); footnotes omitted.]

The Respondent Church maintains that the Appellant TERRY's firing as pastor was done in compliance with the By-Laws of the Church. This is denied, and the Appellant pleads the terms of his Covenant Contract with the Church.

Page 4 of the By-Laws of the Plaintiff Church provides, in relevant part, as follows:

MEETINGS OF THE CHURCH

Church conference meetings for business shall be held every quarter, three (3) months. Special meetings may be called by the Pastor, or in case of sickness of the Pastor, by the Assistant Pastor, in the absence of both of the above, the chairman of the Board of Deacons. Twenty-five (25) members shall constitute a quorum for transaction of business. The church shall regularly meet every Lord's Day for public worship of Almighty God. The ordinance of the Lord's Supper shall be observed by the church each First Sunday. there *shall be* no meeting of the church without an approved agenda.

The alleged meeting of the Church resulting in firing the Appellant TERRY was not called by the Defendant as Pastor, nor by Barzelle Manning, the Assistant Pastor. The Chairman of the Board of Deacons had resigned prior to the meeting. [RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN OPPOSITION, p.375, Appendix B.]

In addition, the By-Laws contain no requirement for notice, for time of notice, or for procedure of meetings. No proper proof of notice, of time of notice, of receipt of notice, nor of quorum at the alleged meeting exists in the documents in discovery. The Appellant notes that the "procedure" of the said meeting, due to Covid, was to have people attend in their cars and beep their horns to indicate agreement. [RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN OPPOSITION, p.375; Deposition, p.421. Depo. Page 97, l.18 – p.98, l.18.] There is no provision for such procedure in the By-Laws.³ [RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN OPPOSITION, p.282-302.; DEPOSITION, p.353, l.4-13.] The Appellant TERRY was dis-invited to attend the meeting that purports to have fired him. [RECORD ON APPEAL, E-MAIL, p.395.]

3. The Appellant would note that if the meeting took place by people sitting in cars, the purported list of attendees signing as present was composed at another time.

The Memo of the Plaintiff Church apparently maintained that the failure to follow either the By-Laws or due process is excused by the fact that it was a regular quarterly meeting. The question would then be 1) who had the right to call a quarterly meeting, and 2) by what right was the Appellant TERRY excluded?

Regardless of the Respondent's invocation of "Baptist doctrine", the legal fact is that having promulgated the By-Laws, it was bound by those By-Laws and the Appellant TERRY had the right to rely upon them. The Respondent Church is also bound by the normal requirements of due process. In the absence of proof that it has followed either the By-Laws or due process.

There is evidence that a genuine issue of material fact, and of legality, exists as to the firing of the Appellant TERRY.

The Appellant would add one other matter for discussion. The Order of the Circuit Court filed April 21, 2022, as signed, contains two pages headed FINDINGS OF FACT and purporting to state the history of the Appellant's firing. [RECORD ON APPEAL, p. 2-4.] To counsel's understanding, this is completely improper procedure; if the Circuit Court has found that the evidence and law mandates summary judgment, its task ends at that point. In that case, there is no need for a recitation of a narrative of how the firing took place. Counsel would further note that it is his understanding that many of the matters so "found" in the said Order are not present in the evidence presented to the Circuit Court.

ARGUMENT:

II.B. THE EVIDENCE SHOWS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF CONVERSION, OR THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW?

The Appellant TERRY testified as to the Respondent's retention of items belonging to him. [RECORD ON APPEAL, Deposition, p.413-414, Depo. Page 64, l.14 – 65, l.9; p.66, l.18 - p.67, l.25; AFFIDAVIT, p.393-394, Para. 5.] He testified to items he brought to the Church. [RECORD ON APPEAL, *Id.*] He testified as to his prohibition from the property. [RECORD ON APPEAL, Deposition, p.414,

Depo. Page 67, l.16-19.] There was no denial of the Church's continued retention of that property, or any grounds stated for such retention. [RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN SUPPORT, p.201-202.] There is no evidence of an intent on TERRY's part to gift the items to the Church, or his abandonment of those items. Thus the Appellant has set out grounds for conversion *pro se*.

There is evidence that a genuine issue of material fact, and of legality, exists as to the conversion of property belonging to the Appellant TERRY.

ARGUMENT:

II.C. THE EVIDENCE SHOWS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF BREACH OF CONTRACT WITH FRAUDULENT INTENT, OR THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW?

In its Memo to the Circuit Court, the Respondent Church sought to dismiss TERRY's claim for breach of contract with fraudulent intent by claiming the lack of a contract between the parties.

The Appellant reiterates his sworn testimony that such a contract, characterized as a "Covenant Contract" existed. As no such document has been produced by the Respondent, the Appellant reiterates his position that the same has been suppressed, or destroyed, by the Respondent. [RECORD ON APPEAL, DEPOSITION, p.492. Depo. Page 91, l.7 – 18; p.373, l.7-22.] Despite the existence of conflicting evidence, the Circuit Court has found that there was no binding contract and his claim fails as a matter of law. [RECORD ON APPEAL, ORDER, p.10-11.] It further asserts his employment was under an at-will contract. [RECORD ON APPEAL, Order, p.11-12.] Again, evidence was presented disputing this conclusion. [RECORD ON APPEAL, DEPOSITION, p.492. Depo. Page 91, l.7 – 18; p.373, l.7-22.]

The Respondent has pleaded the Statute of Frauds as a defense to the lack of a written contract. Even assuming there were no written contract with the Defendant TERRY – which conclusion would be outside the Circuit Court's power in a Summary Judgment hearing - that fact would be insufficient as basis to dismiss the cause of action. The fact that such an oral contract

might have had no expiration date is not a bar to its enforcement on the basis of the Statute of Frauds. 72 AM.JUR.2D *Statute of Frauds* § 42 (1994) states:

It is a well-settled general rule that a contract for personal services for an indefinite time . . . or a contract of employment upon such terms purporting to give permanent employment, is not within the scope of the provision of the statute of frauds requiring contracts incapable of performance within a year from the time of their formation to be in writing for the reason that contracts of this description are deemed possible of performance within one year of their formation, since, for example, the employee may die within that period. [*Id.*, *emphasis added.*]

The rule stated above was adopted by our Supreme Court in *McGehee v. South Carolina Power Co.*, 187 S.C. 79, 196 S.E. 538 (1938); *affirmed*, *Elkins v. Plywoods-Plastics Corp.*, 219 S.C. 296, 65 S.E.2d 243 (1951).

As a further basis for breach with fraudulent intent, the Appellant notes his being uninvited to attend the meeting that purported to have fired him. [RECORD ON APPEAL, E-MAIL, p.395.]

There is evidence that a genuine issue of material fact, and of legality, exists as to the claim of breach of contract with fraudulent intent by the Appellant TERRY.

ARGUMENT:

II.D. THE EVIDENCE SHOWS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF SLANDER and SLANDER *PER SE*, OR THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW?

By its Memo below, the Respondent Church correctly recited that a slanderous statement cannot be one in the pleadings alone, but must have been made to a third party. In its pleading, the

Respondent Church Church made a claim that the Appellant TERRY had stolen funds. TERRY stated in his Memo in Opposition, as affirmed by his Affidavit of March 28, 2022, as follows:

The Defendant TERRY heard of the claim from Brenda Anderson of Winnsboro, S.C., as coming from Kirk Chappell of the Church.⁴ On knowledge and information, that spreading of this claim to the local community will also be confirmed by other persons in further discovery.

[RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN OPPOSITION, p.377, Affidavit, p.393.]

The Appellant notes that the Respondent Church made no effort in submissions below to confirm the allegation of theft against the Appellant TERRY. [RECORD ON APPEAL, Memo in Support, p.204-205.] Rather, it relied wholly upon the absence of repetition to a third party.

As noted above, Ms. Anderson had not yet been deposed. It is nevertheless sufficient for the purpose of a summary judgment motion for the Appellant to have put forward his knowledge as to the spread of the slanderous statements. This is especially the case where, as shown, there is a lack of discovery.

There is evidence that a genuine issue of material fact, and of legality, exists as to the claim of slander and slander *per se* by the Appellant TERRY.

ARGUMENT:

II.E. THE EVIDENCE SHOWS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR NON-PAYMENT OF WAGES, OR THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The Appellant notes that the Respondent refused production of its relevant financial records on the grounds that the request was "not defined." [RECORD ON APPEAL, RESPONSES TO

4. Kirk Chappell is the head deacon of the Respondent Church and the Respondent Church is thus chargeable with his actions.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION, p.611, Request 7.] As Exhibit M to its summary judgment motion, it then produced what purports to be the Defendant's "Wage Report". [RECORD ON APPEAL, Exhibit M, p.346-347.] The Appellant maintains that his earlier production request [RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN OPPOSITION, p.377, Affidavit, p.393.] was clear enough to allow production of any evidence as to wages prior to that motion.

The Respondent's Exhibit M - "wage report" - to its summary judgment motion was the first disclosure of those figures to the Appellant, despite its earlier Requests for Production. Thus, we are once again faced with uncompleted discovery.

The sworn testimony of the Appellant TERRY directly and specifically contradicts the figures thus claimed by the Respondent in its "Exhibit M". [RECORD ON APPEAL, AFFIDAVIT, p.396, Para.s 6,7; Deposition, p.416, Depo.Page 77, l.17-22; p.418, Depo.Page 84, l.12 - p.85, l.13.]

The Respondent also asserted the effect of the report from the South Carolina Department of Labor, by Exhibit N to its original Summary Judgment Motion. [RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN SUPPORT, p.206; Exhibit N, p.348-349 .] The document referred to is a standard investigation letter stating that the Department will go no further; this is, to counsel's knowledge, a letter sent in every non-payment case that he has either prosecuted or defended. It does not preclude action by the individual party seeking lost wages.

CONCLUSION

Our Courts recognize the requirement that summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Middleborough v. Montedison*, 320 S.C. 470, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct.App. 1995). They have further stated that summary judgment must not be granted until an opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1990).

No scheduling Order limiting discovery exists in this case. The Appellant submitted his Affidavit as to the lack of discovery sought. [RECORD ON APPEAL, MEMO IN OPPOSITION, p.377, Affidavit, p.393.] That Affidavit, under Rule 56(f), S.C.R.C.P., is sufficient for proof of the discovery

lacked.

As to those matters on which a lack of discovery is not specifically referenced, the Appellant has demonstrated the existence of genuine issues of material fact or the grounds by which the Respondent is not entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.