RECEIVED

Jul 13 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY

Court Of Common Pleas

The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2021-CP-20-00024, Circuit Court
Appeals Court Docket No.: 2022-000987

Saint Luke Baptist Church Respondent,

v.

Rayshawn Terry.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Charles J. Boykin (SC Bar No. 65149)
Kenneth A. Davis (SC Bar No. 66416)
Imani N. Newborn (SC Bar No. 101820)

BOYKIN & DAVIS, L.L.C.
P.O. Box 11844
Columbia, SC 29211
Telephone: (803) 254-0707
Facsimile: (803) 254-5609

cjboykin@boykinlawsc.com
kdavis@boykinlawsc.com
inewborn@boykinlawsc.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE CHURCH'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS DISCOVERY IS COMPLETE IN THIS CASE AND TERRY FAILED TO ADVANCE A GOOD REASON WHY SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE DELAYED DUE TO INCOMPLETE DISCOVERY OR WHY ADDITIONAL DISCOVERY WOULD UNCOVER ADDITIONAL RELAVANT EVIDENCE.

In support of his Appeal, Terry claims that summary judgment is precluded because discovery is incomplete in this case. A party claiming summary judgment is premature because they have not been provided a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery must advance a good reason why the time was insufficient under the facts of the case, and why further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence and create a genuine issue of material fact. Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 71 580 S.E.2d 433, 439-40 (2003). As more fully stated below, Terry has failed to make the requisite showing that summary judgment is precluded by incomplete discovery.

Terry has failed to show that the amount of time in which the parties engaged in discovery was insufficient. This case was filed on January 14, 2021, which was more than a year before the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment. The Church propounded written discovery requests to Terry on June 10, 2021, to which Terry did not complete responses until October 11, 2021¹. (See Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories to Defendant; Plaintiff's First Request for Production to Defendant (SUPP. ROA pp. 4-13); Defendant's Answers to Plaintiff's First Set of Requests for Production (ROA VOL II, pp. 598-601); Defendant's Answers to Plaintiff's Interrogatories (ROA VOL II, pp. 585- 597). Thereafter, the Church noticed Terry's deposition,

¹ Terry only provided a timely response to Plaintiff's First Set of Requests for Admissions on July 13, 2021.

which was taken on December 17, 2021.

Conversely, Terry did not propound initial discovery requests to the Church until October 21, 2021, to which the Church responded on November 24, 2021. Plaintiff's Responses to Defendant's Request for Production of Documents and/or Things. (ROA VOL II, pp. 610-613). While he now claims that some of the Church's written discovery responses were insufficient, Terry never submitted a Rule 11 letter to the Church, nor did he ever file a Motion to Compel. Terry did not serve any additional written discovery requests after the Church responded to Terry's initial discovery requests on November 24, 2021. Terry did not serve notice for any depositions of any potential witnesses, or indicate a desire to do so, until his response to the Church's Motion for Summary Judgment on March 28, 2021. The record further reflects that Terry was not actively pursuing discovery when the Church's summary judgment motion was filed on February 4, 2022, or when the motion was heard eight (8) weeks later on March 31, 2022.

Terry has also failed to establish the likelihood that further discovery will uncover relevant evidence and create a genuine issue of material fact. The only evidence which Terry insists will be revealed in additional discovery is a 'covenant contract.' This evidence does not exist, as Terry never entered into a 'covenant contract' with the Church.

Contrary to Terry's contentions, the Church has not suppressed any relevant documents requested by Terry in discovery nor did Terry raise the issue of spoliation prior to his response in opposition to the Church's Motion for Summary Judgment. Further, contrary to Terry's assertions, Terry's affidavit dated March 28, 2022, which he filed along with his Memo in Opposition to the Church's Motion for Summary Judgment, did not list items missing from the Church's answers to discovery. Thus, it is inappropriate to make such accusations in order to

oppose the Motion for Summary Judgment. Thus, Terry has failed to show that further discovery would lead to additional relevant evidence that would create a genuine issue of fact.

Terry also argues that no scheduling order has been issued in this case, but Terry has not provided evidence that he requested a scheduling order nor is a scheduling order a prerequisite to filing a summary judgment motion. Additionally, Terry has not articulated a reason as to why approximately more than one (1) year was not adequate time to complete discovery.

The Court should find Terry's assertion that additional time is needed for discovery unpersuasive. See Middleborough Horiz. Property Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A., 320 S.C. 470, 479-80, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995) (affirming summary judgment where appellants "advanced no good reason why four months was insufficient time under the facts of this case to develop documentation in opposition to the motion for summary judgment"). Therefore, Terry has failed to make a sufficient showing that summary judgment is premature due to incomplete discovery. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the circuit court's order granting summary judgment to Respondent.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE CHURCH'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO THE CHURCH'S CLAIMS FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, BASED ON THE RECORD IN THIS CASE, WHICH REFLECTS THAT TERRY'S REMOVAL WAS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHURCH'S BYLAWS AND A MAJORITY VOTE IN FAVOR OF TERRY'S REMOVAL.

A. The circuit court properly ruled that there exist no genuine issues of material fact that the Church acted within its authority, in compliance with the congregational rule standard, and in accordance with its Bylaws with regard to the removal of Terry.

The record in this case supports the circuit court's finding that the Church is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law as to its claims for declaratory and injunctive relief because the Church ended its relationship with Terry in accordance with the Church's Bylaws and a majority

vote of the membership in favor of Terry's removal.

Church disputes in South Carolina are resolved following the "neutral principles of law" approach articulated in All Saints Par. Waccamaw v. Protestant Episcopal Church in Diocese of S.C., 385 S.C. 428, 445, 685 S.E.2d 163, 172 (2009). Following this approach, "where a civil court can completely resolve a church dispute on neutral principles of law, the First Amendment commands it to do so." All Saints Par. Waccamaw v. Protestant Episcopal Church in Diocese of S.C., 385 S.C. 428, 445, 685 S.E.2d 163, 172 (2009).

The dispute in this case involves a determination of whether the Church followed the "congregational rule" standard of a Baptist church in South Carolina, along with any applicable bylaws, in dismissing Rev. Rayshawn Terry as Pastor of the Church. "The law is clear that the majority controls the decisions of a congregational church." McCain v. Brightharp, 399 S.C. 240, 248, 730 S.E.2d 916, 920 (Ct. App. 2012)(internal citations omitted). In Bowen v. Green, the South Carolina Supreme Court took judicial notice that, generally, Baptist churches are governed by their own congregations. Bowen v. Green, 275 S.C. at 434, 272 S.E.2d at 435. Therefore, "the burden [is] on the party departing from the usual Baptist convention to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that its church had adopted an alternative means of church government and that it was following the procedure prescribed by that church." Id.

In a case involving the dismissal of a pastor in a Baptist church, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the only questions it had the power to consider were: (1) whether the congregation met, and (2) whether the congregation disposed of the defendant as pastor. McCain v. Brightharp, 399 S.C. 240, 248-249 (citing Morris Street Baptist Church v. Dart, 67 S.C. 338, 343, 45 S.E.2d 753, 754 (1903)).

As a Baptist Church, Saint Luke is a "congregational rule" church in which the

congregation is the final decision maker for the hiring and termination of the Church's Pastor. The Church's Bylaws provide in part that, "[c]hurch conference meetings for business shall be held every quarter, three (3) months." Respondent's Bylaws also provide in part that, at least twenty-five (25) members must be present for any meeting of the Church for which business would be transacted. Bylaws. (ROA VOL I, pp. 39-58). At a Church meeting held on December 26, 2020, in which a quorum of at least 25 members required by the Church's Bylaws for a lawful meeting was present, sixty-eight (68) members voted unanimously to terminate the services of Terry as Pastor. The total of 68 members voting to terminate Terry is also a majority of the Church's total membership of 125 members. Chappell Aff. ¶¶ 11,14. (ROA VOL I, p. 305).

The record reflects, based on the testimony of Deacon Kirk Chappell (Deacon Chappell"), that the vote to end Terry's employment relationship occurred during a regular, quarterly meeting on December 26, 2020. See Affidavit of Kirk Chappell. (ROA VOL I, pp. 304-306). There is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether this meeting was a quarterly meeting, as there is no other evidence in the record of another meeting being the quarterly meeting. Further, Terry's argument regarding Deacon's Chappell's status is of no moment as the Church's Bylaws do not require a quarterly meeting to be called by a specific officer. Therefore, pursuant to the Church's Bylaws, there was no requirement that either Terry, as Pastor, or Barzelle Manning, the Assistant Pastor, or Chairman of the Board of Deacons, call the meeting. Church Bylaws. (ROA VOL I, pp. 39-58). Thus, the Church was in compliance with its Bylaws in the calling of the meeting on December 26, 2020.

The circuit court properly gave deference to the Church's interpretation of the Bylaws, and its designation of the December 26, 2020, meeting as a quarterly meeting. The Church's

designation is supported by the record as multiple witnesses testified that the December 26, 2020, meeting was in fact a quarterly business meeting, not a special called meeting.

Further, the circuit court correctly ruled that the Church complied with the congregational rule standard and its governing Bylaws. As a Baptist Church, Saint Luke is a “congregational rule” church in which the congregation is the final decision maker for the hiring and termination of the Church’s Pastor. As mentioned above, the quarterly Church meeting held on December 26, 2020, in which a quorum of at least 25 members required by the Church’s Bylaws for a lawful meeting was present, 68 members voted unanimously to terminate the services of Terry as Pastor. The total of 68 members voting to terminate Terry is also a majority of the Church’s total membership of 125 members. Chappell Aff. ¶¶ 9-11. (ROA VOL I, pp. 304-305). This process is consistent with the process utilized to hire Terry. Chappell Aff. ¶ 4. (ROA VOL I, p. 304).

The Church’s Bylaws are silent as to how notice of Church meetings, or the manner in which voting, should occur. However, members were notified of the meeting in accordance with a practice that had been used historically to call meetings. In particular, Church members were notified of the meeting via telephone call and/or text message using the Church’s robocall service over a three-day period. Chappell Aff. ¶ 9. (ROA VOL I, p. 304).

Some members of the Church’s congregation received notice of the December 26, 2020 meeting through the Church’s GroupMe message account, which is a messenger platform that Terry began customarily using to communicate to church members regarding Church business at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. McCants Aff. ¶ 6. (ROA VOL II, p. 533). Terry acknowledged notice of the meeting, as Terry and Assistant Pastor Manning contacted members in an attempt to prevent the meeting from taking place. See Terry Depo. p. 87, lines 6-10. (ROA

VOL I, p. 370, lines 6-10); McCants Aff. ¶¶ 9-11. (ROA VOL II, pp. 533-534).

Not only did the Church follow the Bylaws in the calling of the December 26, 2020, meeting, but the record reflects that the voting procedure also complied with the Bylaws. Rev. Dr. Preston Harrison, who is the Gethsemane Missionary Baptist Association Area Representative of the Midlands and Pastor of Blackjack Baptist Church, served as a neutral mediator at the December 26, 2020 meeting, to certify the vote and ensure that the vote was in accordance with the Gethsemane Missionary Baptist Association and the Church's Bylaws. He testified that the vote was carried out in accordance with the Church's Bylaws. Harrison Aff. ¶¶ 4-5. (ROA VOL I, p. 333). Therefore, the record reflects that the vote taken at the December 26, 2020, meeting was valid and carried out in compliance with the Bylaws.

Terry attempts to argue that the vote was improper, although he was not present at this meeting to observe the procedure. Terry Depo. p. 74, lines 12-22. (ROA VOL II, p. 416, lines 12-22). However, Terry has failed offer any evidence in support of his assertion. Terry may not use the contradictions in his own testimony to create an issue of fact for the jury. See David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 250, 626 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2006); see also, Barwick v. Celotex Corp., 736 F.2d 946, 960 (4th Cir. 1984). Therefore, the circuit court properly ruled that the Church acted within its authority and the removal of Terry as Pastor is valid pursuant to its Bylaws, and the congregational rule standard, as a matter of law.

The circuit court's ruling is also proper as the Church's congregation ratified its action to remove Terry in a Church meeting held on February 20, 2021, pursuant to the Order for Temporary Injunction from Judge Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. The Order for Temporary Injunction included a provision stating as follows:

“Saint Luke Baptist Church shall have a meeting of the members of the Church, not to be held before February 15, 2021, but within 30 days of this Order,

wherein the congregation shall vote on the matter of who will be the Pastor or Interim Pastor of the Church moving forward. The Defendant's attendance is prohibited. The meeting will be noticed by announcement each Sunday during Saint Luke Baptist Church service two (2) weeks prior to the date of the meeting and such other means ordinarily used by the Church."

Order for Temporary Injunction Dated 02/04/21. (ROA VOL I, pp. 21-29). Pursuant to this provision, the Church timely held the meeting required by the order on February 20, 2021. Meeting minutes; Meeting sign-in sheet. (ROA VOL I, pp. 337-343). At this meeting, the congregation ratified its prior action to remove Terry as Pastor by voting to appoint Rev. Jerome Boyd as Interim Pastor. *Id.* (ROA VOL I, pp. 337-343). No motion was made to reinstate Terry as Pastor. *Id.* (ROA VOL I, pp. 337-343). Accordingly, this court-mandated meeting ratified the Church's action in removing Terry, and further supports the circuit court's ruling that there exist no genuine issues of material fact that the Church acted within its authority and in accordance with its Bylaws with regard to the removal of Terry. As such, the circuit court properly granted the Church declaratory relief declaring that the Church's removal of Terry was in accordance with the Church's Bylaws and a majority vote in favor of Terry's removal. The circuit court also properly granted the Church injunctive relief to prohibit further interference from Terry in the Church's business.

B. Terry's argument that the circuit court's factual findings with regard to the narrative of how Terry's removal occurred are inappropriate is not preserved for appellate review because Terry failed to raise this issue in his Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment.

In Terry's Initial Brief, he asserts that the circuit court's "Findings of Fact" related to Terry's removal in its April 21, 2022, Order is improper. Terry first raises this issue in his Initial Brief. However, because Terry failed to include this argument in his SCRPC Rule 59(e) motion to allow the circuit court to rule on this issue, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See Rule 59(e), SCRPC; see also Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543,

546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appellate review. It must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review... Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error”).) Accordingly, Terry’s argument that the circuit court’s factual findings are improper constitutes an issue that has not been properly preserved for appellate review, and should therefore not be addressed by this Court.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE CHURCH’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO TERRY’S COUNTERCLAIMS.

Based on the record in this case, the circuit court made no error in ruling that all of Terry’s Counterclaims fail as a matter of law.

A. The circuit court properly ruled that no genuine issues of material fact exist with regards to Terry’s counterclaim for conversion.

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